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UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT
FOR THE SOUTHERN DISTRICT OF FLORIDA
U.S. COMMODITY FUTURES TRADING
COMMISSION,

)
)

)

Plaintiff,

) CIVIL ACTION NO. 9:14-CV-81216

v.

)
)

INTER-GLOBAL CURRENCY &
PRECIOUS METALS, LLC and STAVROS
PAPASTAVROU,

)
)
)
)

Complaint for Injunctive and Other
Equitable Relief, Restitution and Civil
Monetary Penalties Under the
Commodity Exchange Act

)
)

_______________________________ )
Defendants.

Plaintiff, U.S. Commodity Futures Trading Commission ("Commission"), by its
attorneys, alleges as follows:

I.
I.

SUMMARY

From at least August 2011, and continuing through at least May 2013 (the

"Relevant Period"), Defendant Inter-Global Currency & Precious Metals, LLC C'IGCPM"), by
and through the actions of its employees and agents, including, but not limited to Defendant
Stavros Papastavrou C'Papastavrou") (collectively, "Defendants"), offered to enter into, and
conducted an office or business in the United States, for the purpose of soliciting or accepting
any order for the purchase or sale of precious metals from retai I customers on a leveraged or
financed basis. These transactions constituted illegal, off-exchange retail commodity
transactions. By this conduct, Defendants have engaged, are engaging, or are about to engage in
conduct in violation of the Commodity Exchange Act ("Act"), 7 U.S.C. § 6(a) (2012).
2.

Papastavrou controlled IGCPM throughout the Relevant Period and failed to act

in good faith or knowingly induced IGCPM's violations alleged herein. Therefore, Papastavrou
is also liable for IGCPM's violations pursuant to 7 U.S.C. § 13c(b) (2012).
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3.

At all relevant times, the acts and omissions of Papastavrou and others were

committed within the scope of their employment, agency, or office with IGCPM. Therefore,
IGCPM is liable under 7 U.S.C. § 2(a)(I)(B) (2012), and Commission Regulation ("Regulation")
17 C.F .R. § 1.2 (20 14), as a principal for the actions and omissions of Papastavrou and any other
employee or agent of IGCPM in violation of the Act.
4.

Accordingly, pursuant to 7 U.S.C. § 13a-l (2012), the Commission brings this

action to enjoin Defendants' unlawful acts and practices, to compel their compliance with the
Act, and to further enjoin them from engaging in any commodity-related activity.
5.

In addition, the Commission seeks civil monetary penalties, restitution and

remedial ancillary relief, including, but not limited to, trading and registration bans,
disgorgement, rescission, pre- and post-judgment interest, and such other relief as the Court may
deem necessary and appropriate.
6.

Unless restrained and enjoined by this Court, Defendants likely will continue to

engage in the acts and practices alleged in this Complaint and similar acts and practices, as more
fully described below.

II.
7.

JURISDICTION AND VENUE

7 U.S.C. §§ l3a-1 (2012) authorizes the Commission to seck injunctive relief

against any person whenever it shall appear to the Commission that such person has engaged, is
engaging, or is about to engage in any act or practice constituting a violation of the Act or of any
rule, regulation, or order thereunder.
8.

The Commission has jurisdiction over the conduct and transactions at issue in this

case pursuant to 7 U.S.C. §§ 2(c)(2)(D) & 13a-l (2012).
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9.

Venue properly lies with the Court pursuant to 7 U.S.C. § 13a-1(e) (2012),

because Defendants transacted business in this District, and certain transactions, acts, and
practices alleged in this Complaint occurred, are occurring, and/or are about to occur within this
District.

III.
A.

THE PARTIES

Plaintiff
10.

Plaintiff U.S. Commodity Futures Trading Commission is an independent

federal regulatory agency charged by Congress with the administration and enforcement of the
Act, 7 U.S.C. §§ 1 et seq. (2012), and the Regulations promulgated thereunder, 17 C.F.R. §§ 1.1

et seq. (2014).
B.

Defendants
11.

Defendant Inter-Global Currency & Precious Metals, LLC was a Florida

limited liability company formed in July 2011. Its principal place of business was Pompano
Beach, Florida. IGCPM was a telemarketing firm that solicited retail customers to invest in
financed precious metals transactions. lGCPM has never been registered with the Commission
in any capacity.
12.

Defendant Stavros Papastavrou is a resident of Delray Beach, Florida.

Papastavrou was the owner, operator, and controlling person of IGCPM, managing its day-to-day
operations. Papastavrou has never been registered with the Commission in any capacity.
IV.
13.

RELATED ENTITIES

IGCPM introduced customers to Hunter Wise Commodities, LLC ("Hunter

Wise"), a precious metals dealer that confirmed the execution of customer precious metal
transactions, directly or through Lloyds Commodities, LLC C'Lloyds").
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14.

Hunter Wise was formed as a California company in July 2007 and has been

registered as a Nevada company since October 20 I 0. It maintained a business addresses in Las
Vegas, Nevada and Irvine, California. Hunter Wise held itself out on its website as "a physical
commodity trading company, wholesaler, market maker, back-office support provider, and
finance company." Hunter Wise purported to offer, enter into, and confirm the execution of
retail commodity transactions involving gold, silver, platinum, palladium, and copper throughout
the United States using a network of telemarketing solicitors such as IGCPM that it refers to as
"dealers."
15.

On February 19, 2014, this Court, in an action captioned CFTC v. Hunter Wise

Commodities, LLC, granted the Commission's Motion for Summary Judgment finding that

Hunter Wise and the other defendants violated Section 6(a) of the Act. Case No.9: I 2-cv-81311DMM (S.D. Fla. Feb. 19, 20 I 4).
16.

Lloyds is a Florida limited liability company with its principal place of business

in Palm Beach Gardens, Florida. Lloyds was an intermediary firm that recruited precious metals
dealers to solicit customers who would execute retail commodity transactions through Hunter
Wise. Lloyds has never been registered with the Commission.
17.

IGCPM also introduced customers to AmeriFirst Management, LLC

("AmeriFirst"), a precious metals wholesaler and clearing firm that purported to confirm the
execution of customer precious metal transactions.
18.

AmeriFirst held itself out on its website as a precious metals clearing and

financing firm for precious metals dealers and claimed to provide dealers with "tangible assets in
a growing physical market" and ••guarantee[s] that every ounce of metal in [the dealer's]
customers [sic] account exists and is ready for delivery at any point and time." On its website,
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AmeriFirst's product offering was gold, silver, and platinum in bar and coin fonn. On its
website, AmeriFirst also claimed to provide customer financing options for precious metal
dealers. It operated throughout the United States using a network of over 30 solicitation firms
such as IGCPM that it refers to as "dealers."
19.

On February 25, 2013, AmeriFirst ceased operations.

20.

On September 17,2013, this Court, in an action captioned CFTC v. AmeriFirst

Management, LLC, entered a Consent Order of Pennanent Injunction Against AmeriFirst,
finding that AmeriFirst violated 7 U.S.C. § 6(a) (2012). Case No. 9:13-cv-61637-WPD (S.D.
Fla. Sept. 17, 2013 ). In the order, Amerifirst neither admitted nor denied its violation of
7 U.S.C. § 6(a) (2012). !d.

V.
21.

STATUTORYBACKGROUND

7 U.S.C. §2(c)(2)(D) (2012) gives the Commission jurisdiction over "any

agreement, contract, or transaction in any commodity" that is entered into with, or offered to, a
non-eligible contract participant ("ECP") "on a leveraged or margined basis, or financed by the
offeror, the counterparty, or a person acting in concert with the offeror or counterparty on a
similar basis" C'retail commodity transactions") with respect to conduct occurring on or after
July 16,2011, subject to certain exceptions not applicable here. 7 U.S.C. §2(c)(2)(D) (2012)
makes 7 U.S.C. § 6(a) (20 12) applicable to retail commodity transactions "as if' such
transactions are contracts for the sale of a commodity for future delivery.
22.

The Act defines an ECP, in relevant part, as an individual who has amounts

invested on a discretionary basis, the aggregate ofwhich exceeds $10 million, or $5 million ifthe
individual enters into the transaction to manage the risk associated with an asset owned or
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liability incurred, or reasonably likely to be owned or incurred, by the individual. 7 U.S.C.

§ la(l8)(xi) (2012).
23.

7 U.S.C. § 6(a) (2012), in relevant part, makes it is unlawful for any person to

offer to enter into, execute, confirm the execution of, or conduct any office or business anywhere
in the United States for the purpose of soliciting, accepting any order for, or otherwise dealing in
any transaction in, or in connection with, a contract for the purchase or sale of a commodity for
future delivery unless the transaction is conducted on or subject to the rules of a board of trade
that has been designated or registered by the Commission as a contract market.
VI.
24.

FACTS

From at least August 2011, and continuing through at least May 2013, Defendants

offered to enter into, executed, and confirmed the execution of financed precious metals (gold,
silver, platinum and palladium) transactions with persons who were not ECPs. IGCPM solicited
individuals to invest in financed precious metals transactions through Hunter Wise (directly and
via Lloyds) and AmeriFirst.
25.

During the Relevant Period, Papastavrou was the managing member, owner and

controlling person of IGCPM. Papastavrou was a signatory on the IGCPM bank accounts and
entered into agreements with Lloyds and AmeriFirst on behalf of IGCPM.
26.

At various times during the Relevant Period, IGCPM employed Papastavrou and

other individuals to, among other things, solicit retail customers to engage in financed precious
metals transactions.
27.

Papastavrou and IGCPM's other employees conducted nearly all of their

solicitations by telephone. When soliciting customers for financed precious metals transactions,
Papastavrou and IGCPM's other employees represented that to purchase a certain quantity of
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metal, the customers needed to deposit a percentage of the total metal value, and that customers
would receive a loan for the remaining amount. IGCPM's website required an initial minimum
deposit of25% of the customers' metals purchase. Lloyds, Hunter Wise or AmeriFirst provided
the financing for the loans to the customers. However, IGCPM did not disclose to customers
Lloyd's, Hunter Wise's or AmeriFirst's involvement in their financed precious metals
transactions.
28.

After a customer invested, IGCPM contacted Lloyds, Hunter Wise or AmeriFirst

to effectuate the transaction. IGCPM collected the funds needed for the transaction from the
customer and sent them to Lloyds, Hunter Wise or AmeriFirst. Lloyds purportedly forwarded
funds that it received from IGCPM to Hunter Wise. Hunter Wise and AmeriFirst provided back
office support services to IGCPM and provided access to the details of the transaction to the
customer via a hyper-link on the IGCPM website.
29.

IGCPM charged customers commissions and fees for purchasing the metal and

interest on loans to buy metal. Lloyds/Hunter Wise provided IGCPM's share of the
commissions and fees to IGCPM after it received the customer's funds from IGCPM.
AmeriFirst initially operated in a similar fashion, but it later directed IGCPM to deduct its
commissions and fees from customer funds before forwarding those funds to AmeriFirst.
30.

IGCPM's customers did not take delivery of precious metals. Rather, the vast

majority ofiGCPM's customers were only speculating on the price direction of the precious
metals.
31.

During the Relevant Period, IGCPM introduced approximately 22 customers to

Hunter Wise (directly or via Lloyds) and AmeriFirst and transferred at least approximately
$1.059 million to Lloyds, Hunter Wise and AmeriFirst for the financing of precious metals.
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During the Relevant Period. IGCPM received commi ssions and fees totali ng at least $447,342
for the retail fin anced prec ious metals transactions executed through I lutHer Wise and
AmeriFirst.
32.

IGCPM. Lloyds. Hunter \Vise and Amerifirst never bought, sold. loaned. stored.

or transferred any physical metals for these fin anced precious metals transactions. Likewise.
IGCPM , Ll oyds. ll untcr Wise and Amcri First never delivered any precious metals to any
customers with respect to these financed metals transacti ons.
33.

/\ t all times during the Relevant Period. Papastavrou was the owner. operator and

controlling person of IGCPM. He exercised control over the day-to-day operations of IGCPM.
He opened bank accounts and entered into agreements on behalf of IG CPM.
VII.

VIOLAT IONS OF T H E COMMODITY EXC H ANG E ACT
CO UNT O NE
VIOLAT IONS OF 7 U.S.C. § 6(a) (20 12):
ILLEGAL OFF-EXC HAN GE TRA DING

34.

Paragraphs I through 33 of thi s Complaint are real leged and incorporated herein

by reference.
35.

Duri ng the Relevant Period. the retail commodity transactions described in this

Complaint were offered and entered into by Defendan ts (a) on a leveraged or margined basis, or
fin anced by the offeror. the counterparty. or a person acting in concert with the offeror or
counterparty on a similar basis, (b) with persons who are not ECPs or eli gible commercial
entities as defi ned by the Act. and (c) not made or conducted on, or subject to. the rules of any
board of trade, exchange or contract market.
36.

The go ld. silver, platinum and palladium described herein arc commodities as

defined by 7 U.S.C. § la(9) (20 12).
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37.

As set forth above, from at least Augu st 20 II , until at least December 2012,

Defendants JGCPM and Papastavrou violated 7 U.S.C. § 6(a) (20 12) by offering to enter into,
entering into, executing, confirm ing the execution of, or conducting an office or business in the
United States for the purpose of so liciting or accepting orders for, or otherwise dealing in ,
transactions in, or in connection with, retail commodity transactions.
38.

Each offer to enter into, entrance into, execution, confirmation, soli citation, or

acceptance of an order for a retai I commodity transaction made during the Relevant Period is
al leged as a separate and distinct violation of 7 U.S.C. § 6(a) (20 12).
39.

Papastavrou directly or indirect ly controlled IGCPM and did not act in good fa ith

or knowingly induced, directly or indirectly, the acts constituting IGCPM's violations of Section
6(a) of the Act, alleged in thi s Complaint. Therefore, pursuant to 7 U.S.C. § 13c(b) (20 12),
Papastavrou is liable for each of IGCPM 's violations of 7 U.S.C. § 6(a) (20 12).
40.

The acts and om iss ions ofPapastavrou and the other employees ofiGCPM

described in thi s Complaint were done within the scope of their employment with IGCPM.
Therefore IGCPM is liable as a principa l for each act. omission, or fai lure of Papastavrou and
IGCPM 's other employees constituting violations of7 U.S .C. § 6(a) (2012), pursuant to 7 U.S.C
§ 2(a)( l )(B) (20 12).

VIII. RELIEF REQUESTED

WHER EFORE, the Commission respectfully requests that this Court, as authorized by
7 U.S.C. § 13a- J (20 12), and pursuant to its own equitable powers, enter:
A.

An order findin g that Defendant s violated 7 U.S.C. § 6(a) (20 12);
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B.

An order ofpennanent injunction permanently restraining, enjoining and
prohibiting Defendants. and any other person or entity associated with them. from
engaging in conduct in vio lation of7 U.S.C. § G(a) (20 12);

C.

An order of permanent injunction prohibiting Defendants and any of their
successors from. directly or indirectl y:
I)

Trading on or subj ect to the rules of any registered entity (as that term is
defined in 7 U.S. C. § I a (20 12)):

2)

Entering into an y transactions involving commodity futures, options on
commodity futures. commodity opt ions (as that term is defined in
17 C.F.R. § 1.3(hh) (20 14)) (''commodity options"), security futures
products. swaps (as that term is defined in 7 U.S.C § la(47) (20 12). and
as furth er defined by 17 C.F.R. § 1.3(xxx) (20 14)) ("swaps''), and/or
foreign currency (as described in 7 U.S.C. §§ 2(c)(2)(8) & 2(c)(2)(C)(i)
(20 12)) ("forex contracts"). for their own personal accounts or for any
accounts in which they have a direct or indirect interest;

3)

I laving any commodity futures, options on commodity futures.

commodity options. security futures products. swaps. and/or forex
contracts traded or executed on their behalf;
4)

Controlling or directing the trading for or on behalf of any other person or
entity. whether by power of attorney or otherwise, in any account
involving commodity futures, options on commodity futures, commodity
options, security futures products, swaps. and/or forex contracts;
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5)

Soliciting. receiving. or accepting any fund s from any person for the
purpose of purchasing or selling of any commodity futures, options on
commodity futures, commodity options. security futures products, swaps.
and/or forex contracts;

6)

Applying for registrati on or claiming exemption from registration with the
Commission in any capacity, and engaging in any activity requ iri ng such
registration or exemption from registrati on with the Comm ission except as
provided for in 17 C.F.R. § 4. 14(a)(9) (20 14); and

7)

Acting as a principal (as that term is defined in 17 C.F.R. § 3.1(a) (2014)),
agent, or any other omcer or employee of any person registered, exempted
from registration, or required to be registered with the Commission except
as provided for in 17 C.F.R. § 4. 14(a)(9) (20 14).

D.

Enter an order requ iring that Defendants, as well as any o f their successors,
di sgorge to any officer appointed or directed by the Court all benefits received
from the acts or practices that constitute violations of the Act as described herein,
including. but not limited to. salaries, comm issions. loans, fees, revenues and
trading profits derived, directl y or indirectly. plus pre-judgment interest thereon
from the date of such violations. plus post-judgment interest:

E.

Enter an order requiring Defendants to make full restituti on to every person or
entity whose funds Defendants received or caused another person or entity to
receive as a result of acts and practices that constituted violations of the Act. as
described herein. and pre- and post-judgment interest thereon from the date of
such violations;

II

Case 9:14-cv-81216-XXXX Document 1 Entered on FLSD Docket 09/29/2014 Page 12 of 12

F.

Enter an order directing Defendants and any of their successors, to rescind,
pursuant to such procedures as the Court may order, all contracts and agreements,
whether implied or express, entered into between them and any of the customers
whose funds were received by them as a result of the acts and practices, which
constituted violations of the Act as described herein;

G.

Enter an order requiring Defendants to pay civil monetary penalties under the Act,
to be assessed by the Court, in amounts of not more than the greater of: (I) triple
their monetary gain for each violation of the Act or (2) $140,000 for each
violation committed on or after October 23, 2008;

H.

Enter an order requiring Defendants to pay costs and fees as permitted by
28 U.S.C. §§ 1920 & 2412(a)(2) (20 12); and

I.

Enter an order providing such other and further relief as this Court may deem
necessary and appropriate under the circumstances.

Dated: September 29, 2014

Respectfully submitted,

s/Kevin S. Webb
Kevin S. Webb
Senior Trial Attorney
FL Special Bar #A550 1152 ·
kwebb@cftc.gov
James H. Holl, III
ChiefTrial Attorney
FL Special Bar #A550 I 063
jholl@cftc.gov
Division of Enforcement
U.S. Commodity Futures Trading Commission
1155 21 51 Street, N.W.
Washington, D.C. 20581
Telephone: (202) 418-5000
Facsimile: (202) 418-5538
Attorneys for PlaintiffUS CFTC
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UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT
for the
Southern District of Florida
U.S. COMMODITY FUTURES TRADING
COMMISSION

)
)
)
)
)

Plainti.ff(s)

v.
INTER-GLOBAL CURRENCY & PRECIOUS
METALS, LLC and STAVROS PAPASTAVROU

)
)
)
)
)

Civil Action No. 9:14-CV-81216

)
)

Defondam(s)

SUMMONS IN A CIVIL ACTION

To: (Defendam'snameandaddress) INTER-GLOBAL CURRENCY & PRECIOUS METALS, LLC
C/0 STAVROS PAPASTAVROU, REGISTERED AGENT
15779 MENTON BAY CT
DELRAY BEACH, FL
33446-9740

A lawsuit has been filed against you.
Within 21 days after service of this summons on you (not counting the day you received it)- or 60 days if you
are the United States or a United States agency, or an officer or employee of the United States described in Fed. R. Civ.
P. 12 (a)(2) or (3)- you must serve on the plaintiff an answer to the attached complaint or a motion under Rule 12 of
the Federal Rules of Civil Procedure. The answer or motion must be served on the plaintiff or plaintifrs attorney,
whose name and address are: KEVIN S. WEBB
SENIOR TRIAL ATTORNEY
US COMMODITY FUTURES TRADING COMMISSION
1155 21ST ST NW
WASHINGTON, DC 20581

If you fail to respond, judgment by default will be entered against you for the relief demanded in the complaint.
You also must file your answer or motion with the court.

CLERK OF COURT

Date:

-----------------

Signalure of Clerk or Deputy Clerk

Case 9:14-cv-81216-XXXX Document 1-2 Entered on FLSD Docket 09/29/2014 Page 2 of 2
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Civil Action No. 9:14-CV-81216

PROOF OF SERVICE
(Til is section slloultl not be filet/ witll lite court unless required by Fetl. R. Civ. P. 4 (I))
This summons for (name of indMdual and title, if any)
was received by me on (date)

0 I personally served the summons on the individual at (place)
-----------

on (date)

; or

0 I left the summons at the individual's residence or usual place of abode with (name)

, a person of suitable age and discretion who resides there,
on (date)

, and mailed a copy to the individual's last known address; or
, who is

0 I served the summons on (name of individual)
designated by law to accept service of process on behalf of (name oforgani:ation)

------------------

-------------

on (date)

----------------

;

or
; or

0 I returned the summons unexecuted because

0 Other (specijj~:

My fees are$

for travel and$

for services, for a total of$

I declare under penalty of perjury that this information is true.

Date:
Sen,oer 's signature

Printed llllme and title

Sen•er 's address

Additional information regarding attempted service, etc:

0.00
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UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT
for the

Southern District of Florida
U.S. COMMODITY FUTURES TRADING
COMMISSION

Plaimif!M

v.
INTER-GLOBAL CURRENCY & PRECIOUS
METALS, LLC and STAVROS PAPASTAVROU

Defendant(s)

)
)
)
)
)
)
)
)
)
)
)
)

Civil Action No. 9:14-CV-81216

SUMMONS IN A CIVIL ACTION

To: (Defe/ldallt'snanrealldaddress) STAVROS PAPASTAVROU
15779 MENTON BAY CT
DELRAY BEACH, FL
33446-9740

A lawsuit has been filed against you.
Within 21 days after service of this summons on you (not counting the day you received it)- or 60 days if you
are the United States or a United States agency, or an officer or employee of the United States described in Fed. R. Civ.
P. 12 (a)(2) or (3)- you must serve on the plaintiff an answer to the attached complaint or a motion under Rule 12 of
the Federal Rules of Civil Procedure. The answer or motion must be served on the plaintiff or plaintiffs attorney,
whose name and address are: KEVIN S. WEBB
SENIOR TRIAL ATIORNEY
US COMMODITY FUTURES TRADING COMMISSION
1155 21ST ST NW
WASHINGTON, DC 20581

If you fail to respond, judgment by default will be entered against you for the relief demanded in the complaint.
You also must file your answer or motion with the court.

CLERK OF COURT

Date:
Signature of Clerk or Deputy Clerk

Case 9:14-cv-81216-XXXX Document 1-3 Entered on FLSD Docket 09/29/2014 Page 2 of 2
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Civil Action No. 9:14-CV-81216

PROOF OF SERVICE
(This .<;ection should not be filed with tlte court unless required by Feel. R. Civ. P. 4 (/))
This summons for (name of indMdual and title. if any)
was received by me on (date)

0 I personally served the summons on the individual at (place)
on (date)

; or

0 lleft the summons at the individual's residence or usual place of abode with

(name)

, a person of suitable age and discretion who resides there,
-------~·

on (date)

, and mailed a copy to the individual's last known address; or

0 I served the summons on (name of indMdual)

------------

, who is

designated by law to accept service of process on behalf of (name oforgani:ation)

; or

on (date)

; or

0 I returned the summons unexecuted because
0 Other (specify):

My fees are$

for travel and$

for services, for a total of$

I declare under penalty of perjury that this information is true.

Date:
Serwr 's signature

Printed name and title

Sen•er 's address

Additional information regarding attempted service, etc:

0.00

